1991

Lee Ann Hodgson v. Bunzl Utah, Inc., a Utah Corporation and Carl A. Kruse : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to Rules 3 and 4 of the Rules of the Supreme Court and by U.C.A. 78-2-2, 1953, as amended.

This is a civil case in which summary disposition was entered in favor of the Defendants in the Third Judicial District court, the Honorable Richard H. Moffat, presiding. No other appeals have been taken in this matter.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a Civil case on appeal from the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, Utah the Honorable Richard H. Moffat, presiding.

The appeal is from the Summary Judgment granted the Defendants on December 19, 1990.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Lee Ann Hodgson an experienced and trained bookkeeper, was employed by Bunzl, Utah Inc., beginning in January 1986. Prior to her employment she was interviewed by Terry Frank, the Utah manager. Mr. Glen Rigby, in charge of the warehouse for Bunzl at that time was also present. Hodgson Dep. Vol. 1, P. 25-26.

In addition to the usual interview questions and discussion, indicating the newness of the company to Utah and its proposed staff expansion as it got bigger Hodgson Deposition V-I p. 24-28, Mr. Frank introduced the matter of at will employment, whereupon the following exchange took place: (Hodgson Dep. V.I. p. 29) P. 415, 416.

A. (Hodgson, Dep. V.I. p. 29 "and he talked a little bit about

at will employment. He asked me if I understood what it was and I said yes, but surely you would not fire someone without giving them a chance to correct deficiencies? And he said, "Oh, no. We have procedures that we follow for disciplinary action and you understand that with your raises, we give only merit raises." and,

A. (Hodgson) "my understanding was that I would be at will employment or employee, except when my performance was concerned. That I would be given a chance to know what my deficiencies were and a chance to correct them and at least a workable situation."

Ms. Hodgson was selected for employment and undertook the position offered her, as the sole staff office person.

Bunzl was a company new to Utah, engaged in the business of supplying wholesale companies with paper and other products. The operation began very small and expanded into supplying retail stores with paper products and similar products, apparently because the warehouse business was slow. Hodgson, Dep. V-1, p. 43 et seq., p. 50, 51.

Supplying retail stores increased the volume of work for Ms. Hodgson dramatically since it increased the volume of invoices greatly, but at the same time, dealing with smaller quantity of products to each store, hence a lower volume of profit.

Ms. Hodgson received three merit raises during her employment, including one at the beginning of 1988, just shortly before she was terminated, attesting to her successful performance of her duties.

By that time, the volume of work had expanded dramatically, over 75% by January 1988, even more by April, (Hodgson Dep. Vol.I. p. 89,

90,91, but the Bunzl Company, although it hired more drivers and warehouse personnel, did not add to its office staff, and Ms. Hodgson remained the sole office employee.

By reason of the extreme volume of work, Ms. Hodgson sought to have Mr. Kruse, the then manager provide her with staff support. Mr. Kruse indicated that they planned to hire another staff person, one Kathy Fletcher. Hodgson Dep., Vol. I, p. 88, 96, 97. However, he delayed that hiring and instead, provided Ms. Hodgson with temporary employees, hired from a Temporary Employment source for brief periods of time. The hirings were not co-ordinated with the work schedule, nor were the persons hired trained in the work, thus requiring additional time and effort on the part of Ms. Hodgson. Hodgson Dep. Vol. I p. 86, 87.

Ms. Hodgson began working ten or more hours daily and on Saturdays and at home on week nights and week ends in an effort to keep up with the volume of work. Hodgson Dep. Vol. I, p. 73-75.

When the load became impossible to handle and Ms. Hodgson found her health becoming impaired, she protested to Mr. Kruse about the situation and also discussed the problem with Bunzl national personnel. Hodgson Dep. V-2, p. 10, 11

A substantial part of the delay and time consumed, related to Mr. Kruse lack of managerial ability and his efforts to keep Corporate headquarters from recognizing his deficiencies. Hodgson Dep. Vol. I, p. 81-95.

On May 19, 1988 Mr. Kruse told Ms. Hodgson that on the following day he would have an analysis for her of the work program. Hodgson Dep Vol. 1, R. 425, 426

The following morning when she arrived, she was handed a termination letter. She had no warning nor inkling that she was being fired until that moment. Hodgson Dep Vol. I P. 94.

In early April 1987, sixteen months after her employment Ms. Hodgson and other employees were given an employees handbook for the first time. Hodgson Dep. Vol. 1, p. 47. The booklet embodied the at will concept, but also provided that the company could make modifications and changes in policy, rules and procedures as it saw fit. Handbook, R. 370

After the advent of the handbook, Mr. Glen Rigby was given a written memorandum warning, in which goals were set up for him to achieve, and he was given sixty days to make the changes. This warning was given him by Mr. Frank. R. 451, 452. He was later demoted. Hodgson Dep. Vol I p. 77. Ron Romero, a driver/warehouseman, was given a warning in writing pointing out his defective performance and was given a 90 probationary period. This warning was given by Glen Rigby, his supervisor, but it was directed to be done by Mr. Frank. Later, Mr. Romero was terminated. Ms. Hodgson prepared the documentation pursuant to directions from Mr. Rigby. Rigby Affidavit, R. 449

Two other instances of modification of the at will handbook provision include a note and second notice to Rodney Austin by Mr. Kruse, Affidavit Austin, R. 454 and a warning notice to Kathy Fletcher, who was "written up" on a Bunzl form by Linda Durant. At that time Ms. Fletcher was given thirty days to improve her performance or face discharge. Fletcher Affidavit, R. 457, 458. Both were after the handbook was distributed.

The questions presented by this appeal represent to a substantial extent what we believe to be logical extensions of the case law as set forth by this Court heretofore, *Berube vs. Fashion Centre Ltd.*, 771 P. 2d 1033 (Utah 1989; *Gilmore v. Salt Lake Area Community Action Program* 775 P. 2d 940 (Utah 1989); *Caldwell v. Ford, Bacon and Davis Utah Inc.*, 777 P. 2d 483, (Utah 1989); *Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co.*, 779 P. 2d 668 (Utah 1989); *Loose v. Natural-All Corporation*, 785 P. 2d 96 (Utah 1989); and cases cited and discussion in these cases.

Point I

In the absence of a written policy of the company, is the announced policy of the company an agreement upon which a prospective employee is entitled to rely?. That is, did the statement of Mr. Frank to the effect that the company policy was that each employee would be given a warning and the opportunity to correct his or her deficiencies, become a term of the employment agreement?

Point II

Is evidence of that existing policy as related and understood by supervisory personnel and transmitted to the employees sufficient evidence to require a trial on the merits and to justify reversal of the summary judgment to determine the terms of employment?

Point III

Is the later production of a policy statment in the handbook with respect to at will employment, sufficient to obviate the factual evidence that in fact there were already incursions in the operation of the policy statement sufficient to justify the admission of

evidentiary facts relative to the interpretations of that written policy statement, compelling a reversal of the Court's ruling as to the Summary Judgment?

May the written and disclosed policy statement be interpreted by the use of evidence of modification of that written policy, reflecting how the written policy statement was modified pursuant to the stated authorization in the handbook, to become a part of the employment agreement.

Point IV

Do the facts of this case justify a modification of the language and decisions in Utah cases limiting the right of employees to recover for breach of an implied covenant of fair dealing; bad faith discharge; defamation; retaliatory discharge?

We do not propose to burden the Court with a recital of the prior case law of this Court. However, attention is called to the cases cited herein, based upon the contention which we make, that a justified clarification of those cases is dictated in the present instance.

We propose to point out how and in what particulars the present case required the Court to re-think and/or extend its analysis of the at will doctrine it has heretofore announced.

I

ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff received an interpretation of the "at will" doctrine as it applied to the Bunzl Company at the time of her interview.

At that time in response to the "at will" statement of Mr. Frank, the manager interviewing her, she responded "Surely you would not fire someone without giving them a chance to correct deficiencies." The response: "Oh no, we would never do anything like that. We have procedures that we follow for disciplinary action, and you understand that with your raises, we give only merit raises." Hodgson Dep. p. 29, R:

At no point thereafter did Mr. Frank indicate anything which would even intimate that Ms. Hodgson's understanding of the company policy and his understanding thereof were different. Certainly at this point Mr. Frank had a duty to disabuse her mind that the limitation on the "at will" employment which had been explained to her did not really exist, if that was the case. She left the interview with the understanding as she put it, "That I would be given a chance to know what my deficiencies were and or chance to correct them and at least a workable situation." Hodgson Dep. Vol. 1, P. 29.

There was no handbook or written policy presented to Ms. Hodgson at the time of her employment.

At the time of her employment, the record reveals a statement by the prospective employer indicating that the company had "procedures in place" which constituted a modification of any strict "at will" policy of the company, with the clear knowledge of the interviewer, Mr. Frank, that it was the understanding of the proposed new employee that she would be given a chance to know her deficiencies and a chance to correct them. This understanding was solidified as time went on and she received three merit raises.

At this juncture, we believe the evidence justifies submission to the trier of facts of the issue of modification of the "at will" concept and the creation of an implied contractual obligation.

II

ARGUMENT

Mr. Glen Rigby, who succeeded Mr. Frank as Ms. Hodgson's supervisor had the same information that Ms. Hodgson had as to modified "at will" changes which he also received from Mr. Frank.

In fact, Mr. Frank by memorandum, did just such an evaluation of Mr. Rigby. See R. 451, 452

The substance of that evaluation is that Mr. Rigby must "show results or changes will be made."

In addition, during the period of April 1, 1986, Mr. Rigby was further instructed by Mr. Terry Frank, his supervisor concerning company policy. R. 449

At that time, Mr. Rigby had expressed concern to Mr. Frank about the poor performance of an employee, Ron Romero.

By affidavit, Mr. Rigby states that he was instructed that "it was company policy that no employee was to be discharged without being given every chance to improve his performance", and "that Mr. Romero was to be notified of this fact and given the opportunity to improve his performance." He states further, that "I was to document his performance and Mr. Romero was then notified that he was on ninety days probation." Affidavit Glen Rigby R 449.

That Ms. Hodgson was aware of the events is made clear by Mr. Rigby who had Ms. Hodgson prepare the document for his signature.

Mr. Romero's warning and probation occurred after the time the Bunzl Handbook was distributed, as was his termination.

Plaintiff's case at this point gains its strength factually from two separate incidents showing an announced deviation from a harsh "at will" policy in favor of exactly the modification of that doctrine as it was related to Ms. Hodgson at the time of her employment.

Plaintiff's position is that factually there is evidence for the trier of facts for a determination of a policy other than "at will" on the part of the Defendant company, a modification consisting of discharge for cause only. In other words, the manual was and is only a part of the total employment package, modified clearly by a well known and documented procedure followed in every discharge situation except that of Ms. Hodgson.

III

ARGUMENT

This argument embraces the "at will" language of the Bunzl Handbook.

The handbook states R. 370:

"The plans, policies, rules and procedures described in this Handbook are not conditions of employment. Bunzl reserves the right to modify, revoke, suspend, terminate, or change any or all such plans, policies, rules or procedures, in whole or in part, at any time with or without prior notice. The plans, policies, rules and procedures described in this Handbook supersede the terms and conditions of any previous plans, policies, rules and procedures."

The advent of the employee handbook sixteen months later, in April 1987, gives rise to the question of applicability of the orally

announced policies as stated by Mr. Frank at the onset of Ms. Hodgson's employment, and the initial conference between Mr. Frank and Mr. Rigby relative to Ron Romero, and conceivably the handbook may be construed to vitiate the announced company policy.

However, the Ron Romero termination and the sixty day probation of Glen Rigby, as drafted by Mr. Frank, both occurred after the handbook was distributed.

Whether the policy existed prior to the handbook distribution and was a continuing policy, or whether the policy was interrupted by issuance of the handbook, clearly it was the policy after the handbook was issued, and falls within the language of the handbook wherein Bunzl reserved the right to change or modify its rules, policies and procedures. A modification to discharge for cause only.

In point of fact, two additional instances re-affirm that the policy and rules of the Bunzl Company after the policy handbook distribution was clearly continued or modified in essentially the original form expressed by Mr. Frank.

Mr. Rodney Austin has filed his affidavit wherein he states that he apparently overstepped his position as driver/warehouseman by discussing a customer's order with the customer. Austin Affidavit, R. 454

He states that he was warned by his supervisor that he should not "play salesman", that he was warned a second time as to this conduct and that for any further infractions he could be terminated.

The other incident involved one Kathy Fletcher who was written up by Linda Durrant, the then operations manager. She was orally

warned that she had thirty days to improve her performance or face discharge. The form upon which she was "written up" was a form with a "Bunzl" heading on it which was then filed in her personnel file.

Fletcher Affidavit, R. 458

It is Plaintiff's contention that each and all of the instances which amounted to a deviation from the stated company policy, as contained in the handbook after the issuance of the handbook provide ample evidence for the trier of facts that the company policy was not that described in the handbook, but rather it was modified to discharge for cause only as the handbook said that it might be modified or changed.

The affidavits of Glen Rigby, Rodney Austin and Kathy Fletcher, along with the warning memorandum issued to Glen Rigby by Mr. Frank and the interview of Ms. Hodgson by Mr. Frank each discloses a promise not to discharge at will but for cause only, hence the Plaintiff is entitled to have her wrongful discharge claim decided as a factual matter at trial.

The Plaintiff is entitled to go to the trier of fact for a determination whether the at will provision of the policy handbook even applied to Ms. Hodgson who clearly was employed on the basis of a policy providing for notice of deficiency and an opportunity to improve performance; on the question of whether a continuation of that same policy after issuance of the handbook had the effect of a modification of the at will provisions of the handbook and did not in fact modify the language of the handbook to require notice of deficiencies and an opportunity to improve performance. In every

instance outlined above, persons other than Ms. Hodgson were given the required notice of deficiency and the opportunity for correction, whereas Plaintiff, Ms. Hodgson was summarily discharged. See Hodgson Dep. Vol. I. p. 94, R.

Point IV

ARGUMENT

Although the Court made no separate determination specifying the basis for its decision to grant the Summary Judgment, it is incumbent upon Plaintiff to raise the issues of Bad Faith Discharge, Publication of defamatory matter relating to her by Bunzl personnel and for Retalatory Discharge by the company's manager Carl Kruse. Plaintiff's deposition points out innumerable instances based upon which Mr. Kruse sought to protect his own inadequacies by shifting blame to the Plaintiff. See Hodgson deposition.

Plaintiff is cognizant of the limitations heretofore set by this Court relating to covenants of good faith and fair dealing in Berube, and necessarily concludes that the trial court acted in a Summary way as to these issues based upon Berube and cases cited therein. However, Plaintiff's factual picture in this regard goes far beyond the Berube discussion in terms of the ill-will and intentionally harmful conduct of her employer and justifies a review thereof.

It is submitted that Plaintiff has made a factual case justifying submission of these issues to the trier of facts.

CONCLUSION

Under the familiar principle announced many times by this Court, the Court is required to liberally review and construe all evidence

and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in favor of the party who opposes the motion. Berube v. Fashion Centre Ltd, 771 P. 2d 1033 (Utah 1989). It is the position of the Plaintiff that the facts of this case when so construed justify the remand of this case for trial.