1991

# Lee Ann Hodgson v. Bunzl Utah Inc., and Carl A. Kruse : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### VIII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. Summary judgment was appropriate in this case because:

1. Both the signed Employee Checklist and Bunzl's subsequent Employee Handbook clearly and unambiguously state that employment was at-will. Therefore:

a. Bunzl had the right to terminate plaintiff's employment at any time, with or without cause;

b. The vague, oral statement by Mr. Frank did not create an implied-in-fact agreement altering plaintiff's at-will status;

c. Instances of progressive discipline did not abrogate the at-will policy nor create an implied-in-fact agreement; and

d. Evidence of either the inconsistent oral statement or Bunzl's course of conduct in the face of clear written promulgations is insufficient to preclude summary judgment.

2. Even if an implied-in-fact agreement was created that plaintiff would receive an opportunity to correct her deficiencies before termination, plaintiff had that opportunity. Plaintiff was aware of the problem and given seven months to correct it before her termination.

B. Plaintiff's remaining claims fail because:

1. Pursuant to several cases, including this court's recent decision in Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 161 Utah Adv. Rep. 7 (Utah 1991), Utah does not recognize an implied-in-law covenant of good faith and fair dealing exception to the at-will rule.

2. Plaintiff does not and cannot state a claim for defamation; and

3. Utah does not recognize a common law claim for retaliatory discharge.

#### IX. ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

THE UTAH SUPREME COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE  
THIRD DISTRICT COURT'S GRANT OF SUMMARY  
JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANTS.

Summary judgment is appropriate where no genuine issues of material fact exist, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In the instant case, no such issues of fact exist. Neither the alleged oral statement by Terry Frank nor Bunzl's course of conduct with other employees created an implied-in-fact agreement that plaintiff's employment status would be anything but strictly at-will. Since Bunzl's at-will policy was not merely a presumption, but rather was expressly outlined in both the Employee Checklist and the Employee Handbook, any evidence of an implied-in-fact agreement that would limit that unfettered right is insufficient to create a question of fact, and defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

A. The Ambiguous Pre-Employment Oral Statement did not Create an Implied-in-Fact Agreement Modifying Plaintiff's At-Will Status Because Bunzl's Written Policies Clearly State that Employment was At-Will.

1. Under Utah Case Law, Bunzl's written Employee Checklist and Employee Handbook establish that plaintiff was an at-will employee.

The Utah Supreme Court, in recent decisions, has held that if an employee is hired for an indefinite term without a written employment contract, a presumption is created that employment is at-will. Caldwell v. Ford, Bacon, & Davis, Inc., 777 P.2d 483 (Utah 1989). This presumption may be rebutted by evidence of a contrary intent based on language in an employment manual or bulletin. See Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1044 (Utah 1989); Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 161 Utah Adv. Rep. 7 (Utah 1991). However, in the instant case, that presumption is affirmed, rather than rebutted, by the language in the company's written policies. Plaintiff claims that the alleged oral statement by Terry Frank rebutted the at-will doctrine. However, the aforementioned cases indicate that the written policies control in this case and establish that plaintiff was an at-will employee.

If the language of the Employee Handbook has the power to abrogate the at-will doctrine, then under Berube and Nordstrom, it certainly has the power to reinforce it. In Nordstrom, Justice Stewart states that evidence of "pertinent oral

representations" and "employer's course of conduct" may be relevant to determine the intent of the parties. 161 Utah Adv. Rep. at 11. However, such evidence only becomes relevant "[i]f the terms of the manual do purport to limit [the company's] power to discharge." Id.

The obvious corollary to Justice Stewart's statement is if the Handbook expresses the at-will policy in clear language, then evidence of inconsistent oral statements or course of conduct is irrelevant and insufficient to create a question of fact as to the parties' intent. In fact, Justice Stewart states "that when it is plain that a manual or bulletin does not limit the right to discharge at will, the case need not go to a jury." Id. at 11 (quoting Caldwell, 777 P.2d at 486). Triable factual issues therefore only exist if the terms of an employment manual attempt to limit the right to terminate at-will. Since the Bunzl Handbook reaffirms the at-will policy, the evidence of the alleged contradictory oral statement is irrelevant. The company's at-will policy, expressed unambiguously in writing, obviates the issue, and an inconsistent oral statement can not create an implied-in-fact agreement to the contrary.

Plaintiff suggests that because the Employee Handbook did not exist at the time of her hire, its stated at-will policy did not apply to her. However, plaintiff was aware of Bunzl's at-will policy long before the Handbook was issued. Plaintiff admits that during her pre-employment interview with Mr. Frank he

explained to her that her employment was at-will and Bunzl could terminate her at any time. R. 303-304. Moreover, at the time of her hire, plaintiff also read and signed the Employee Checklist which clearly states that her employment could be "terminated at will." R. 364. Plaintiff's signature on this document indicates that she, in fact, was conscious from the beginning of her employment that she could be terminated at-will.

In addition, pursuant to the language in the Handbook itself, plaintiff was clearly bound by its terms. Plaintiff admits that at the time she began working for Bunzl, she knew the Employee Handbook was forthcoming and that it would outline the company's procedures on termination and discipline. R. 306-307. She admits she received and read the Handbook when it was published in April, 1987. R. 309. The Handbook states that it "supersedes the terms and conditions of any previous plans, policies, rules and procedures." R. 370. It goes on to state in two different places that employment is "at-will." R. 372, 384. Finally, it expressly states that, "[n]o employee may rely that a program of progressive discipline is in effect . . . ." R. 384. These provisions specifically override any implications which could be drawn from Mr. Frank's statement, even though the handbook was published later. Since the Handbook terms superseded any previous policies, the Handbook was applicable to all employees, regardless of their starting dates.

Additionally, by continuing her employment, plaintiff impliedly accepted the terms of the Handbook. In Foley v. Interactive Data Corp., 47 Cal. 3d 654, 765 P.2d 373, 254 Cal. Rptr. 211 (1988), the California Supreme Court held that an employment manual can be interpreted as an offer for a unilateral contract. An employee can impliedly accept that offer by continuing to work. This court said essentially the same in Berube, stating that continued service after the publication of a handbook is sufficient consideration to make the additional terms part of the employment contract. 771 P.2d at 1044-45. Therefore, by continuing to work, plaintiff accepted the "offer" formed by the Handbook and impliedly agreed to be bound by it.

2. Given the existence of the written Employee Checklist and Employee Handbook, evidence of an inconsistent oral statement is insufficient to preclude summary judgment.

The Employee Handbook and Employee Checklist are written, affirmative expressions of the company's intention to preserve the at-will relationship. Other jurisdictions have ruled on this issue and held that, as a matter of law, written publications of the company's at-will policy prevail over oral statements that attempt to limit it. In Lofvendahl v. Barclays American Corp., 5 IER Cases (B.N.A) 821 (C.D. Cal. 1990),<sup>2</sup> the plaintiff submitted evidence that during his interviews, he was given oral assurances

---

<sup>2</sup> A copy of this case is attached hereto as Addendum A.

that as long as he "carried out his duties, he would have a job." Id. at 824. He claimed that the oral representations created an implied-in-fact agreement that he would only be terminated for cause. Barclays, however, submitted a copy of its Employee Handbook, which clearly stated that employment with the company was at-will and that an employee could be terminated with or without cause at any time. The court held that in view of the Handbook, with its specific at-will provisions, any evidence of oral statements or implied-in-fact agreements inconsistent with the Handbook would constitute a mere "scintilla" of evidence too insignificant to preclude summary judgment. Id. (citing Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250-252 (1986)). See also Wing v. Anchor Media Ltd. of Texas, 59 Ohio St.3d 108, 110, 570 N.E.2d 1095, 1098 (1991) (written statements which unequivocally [set forth] that employment is "terminable at the will of the employer" bar a finding that the employment relationship is other than at-will); Allan v. Sunbelt Coca-Cola Bottling Co., 4 IER Cases (B.N.A.) 1453 (S.C., County Ct. C.P. 1989)<sup>3</sup> (defendant company negated any contractual effect of prior oral statements by notifying plaintiff in writing that employment was at-will).

In a recent decision, the Michigan Court of Appeals, also held that a company's written statements--not oral representations--are its controlling policy. Grow v. General

---

<sup>3</sup> A copy of this case is attached hereto as Addendum B.



Products, 184 Mich. App. 379, 457 N.W.2d 167 (1990). There, the plaintiff claimed that oral statements such as, "you have a good future here," and "you have expertise," created an implied-in-fact agreement that his employment could only be terminated for cause. However, the company had issued a memorandum that clearly and unambiguously stated that employment could be terminated with or without cause, at any time. The court therefore held that in light of the clear statement of the at-will policy in the memorandum, plaintiff's reliance on the oral statements was unjustifiable as a matter of law. Id. at 381, 457 N.W.2d at 770.

The Utah Supreme Court has also addressed this issue in Caldwell v. Ford Bacon & Davis, 777 P.2d 483 (Utah 1989), in which the court focused on the written policies of the company, not the alleged oral representations. The defendant in Caldwell had a written employment manual which outlined a detailed procedure for discharging employees for cause. The manual stated that involuntary terminations could be carried out without notice. However, the plaintiff testified that he was told in his hiring interview that an employee could only be terminated for cause after first receiving three letters or three warnings. Plaintiff was later terminated without notice.

The Utah Supreme Court followed its Berube decision and held that a factual question existed as to whether the employment manual formed a term of employment. Significantly, the court declined to even mention the oral representations as having any

force to rebut the at-will presumption. The court did hold, however, that summary judgment was appropriate because the employer properly followed the provisions of the handbook in terminating the plaintiff.

Similarly, in this case, during the employment interview, Mr. Frank allegedly promised plaintiff that employees would not be terminated without an opportunity to correct deficiencies; however, neither the Employee Checklist nor the subsequent Handbook mentioned such a policy. Instead, they clearly emphasized that employment with Bunzl was at-will, negating any prior oral statements to the contrary. Therefore, the evidence regarding the alleged oral representation is insufficient to create a question of fact. Moreover, Bunzl followed the express terms of its Employee Handbook in terminating plaintiff's employment by paying plaintiff two-weeks' severance pay at the time of her termination. This is the only procedure, aside from the at-will policy, provided in the Handbook. Therefore, based on Caldwell, because Bunzl properly followed the provisions of its Handbook in terminating plaintiff, it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

3. The alleged oral statement of Mr. Frank was vague, ambiguous, and insufficient to create an implied-in-fact agreement.

Assuming Mr. Frank made the alleged oral statement, defendants were still entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Even absent the Checklist or Handbook provisions outlining the at-will policy, Mr. Frank's oral statement was so vague and ambiguous that it lacked the force to rebut the presumption of at-will, and it did not merit plaintiff's reliance that she would be given a chance to correct deficiencies before termination. In Aberman v. Malden Mills Indus., 414 N.W.2d 769 (Minn. Ct. App. 1987), the Minnesota Court of Appeals held that statements such as, "permanent employment," "life employment," and "we are offering you security" were too vague to create a contract for anything other than at-will employment. The court declared that "oral, uncorroborated, vague in important details, and highly improbable statements" are not sufficient to change at-will employment status. Id. at 771.

In Sanders v. Amerihealth, 898 F.2d 131 (11th Cir. 1990), the company president told the plaintiff during a pre-employment interview that "as long as you do a good job for me, you've got a good future with this company." However, the Eleventh Circuit held that the statement was too general and vague to have the sufficient contractual effect to abrogate the plaintiff's at-will status.

The Utah Supreme Court faced a similar claim in Rose v. Allied Development Co., 719 P.2d 83 (Utah 1986). There, the plaintiff contended that he relied on the employer's promise on two separate occasions that the plaintiff could return to school and still continue his employment. When the employer determined that school was interfering with plaintiff's work responsibilities, he was discharged. The Utah Supreme Court upheld the summary judgment granted in the employer's favor, noting that the plaintiff was an at-will employee and to prevail on a wrongful discharge claim requires more than the plaintiff's "subjective understanding that the brief conversations [with his employer] became a binding obligation not to terminate him." Id. at 87.

Rose presents a much more compelling argument than the present case. In Rose, the plaintiff had two conversations with his supervisor after his hire, as opposed to one vague, generalized statement made during a pre-hire interview. The plaintiff in Rose also had his employer's specific assent to return to school. Here the alleged statement by Mr. Frank did not specifically set out what the company would do to give an employee an opportunity to correct job deficiencies.

In Aberman and Sanders the oral statements, although deemed too vague to form a contract, were also more specific than Mr. Frank's ambiguous comment, which was merely a response to plaintiff's question whether employees would be given an

opportunity to correct work deficiencies. Mr. Frank added, "we have procedures that we follow for disciplinary action." R. 304. However, he did not mention what those specific procedures were. Nor did he mention any specific details as to how employees would receive notice or warnings, whether the warnings would be written or oral, or a specific time period allotted for the corrective action to take place. In short, he gave no specific outline of the company's discipline procedure. If the oral statements in Rose, Aberman, and Sanders lacked contractual force, then Mr. Frank's alleged oral statement, which was also general, vague, and susceptible to plaintiff's subjective understanding, had no power to create an implied-in-fact agreement, particularly in the face of clear written language to the contrary.

B. If the Employee Checklist and Employee Handbook State that Employment is At-Will, Limited Instances of Written or Oral Warnings to Other Employees do not Alter Plaintiff's At-Will Status.

An employer's practices and conduct do not abrogate its at-will rights. Even if Bunzl did, in fact, give some employees warnings or probation, such conduct would not change plaintiff's at-will status. In Bruno v. Plateau Mining Co., 747 P.2d 1055 (Utah Ct. App. 1987), the plaintiff, who was terminated for fighting inside a mine, claimed that Plateau had a de facto policy of not terminating employees for fighting; he even submitted affidavits from co-workers who knew of no Plateau

employees who had been terminated for fighting. The court stated, however, that even if the company did have such a policy, that was not "enough to establish Plateau's intentional surrender of its right to terminate [plaintiff's] employment at will." 747 P.2d at 1058. The court also held as a matter of law that even if the allegations were true, they were insufficient to create an implied-in-fact agreement, and summary judgment was therefore appropriate. Id.

Bruno is analogous to the present case. Simply because Bunzl management issued written or oral warnings to four other employees, no implied-in-fact agreement was ever created that plaintiff would be treated in the same manner. Past actions do not automatically abrogate an employer's right to terminate at will.

Again, Lofvendahl v. Barclays American Corp., 5 IER Cases (B.N.A) 821 (C.D. Cal. 1990), is on point. There, the plaintiff claimed that in addition to receiving oral assurances of job security, Barclays had a standard practice of terminating employees for cause only, and that this course of conduct created an implied-in-fact agreement that he would be terminated only for cause. The court answered this question as it did the issue of oral representations: in the face of a handbook that clearly states that employment is at-will, evidence of inconsistent course of conduct is insufficient to create a question of fact.

The employer was therefore entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id. at 824.

Similarly, in the present case, any evidence of contrary conduct becomes irrelevant in view of the terms of the handbook. Even if Bunzl did issue warnings to a few other employees and give them opportunities to improve, the fact that the handbook expressly stated that employment was at-will means that the trier-of-fact could not reasonably find any implied-in-fact agreement contrary to the at-will policy. The trial court therefore correctly granted summary judgment.

Plaintiff may argue that language in Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 161 Utah Adv. Rep. 7 (Utah 1991) indicates that evidence of "employer's course of conduct" is relevant. Again that evidence is only relevant "[i]f the terms of the manual do purport to limit [the company's] power to discharge [at-will]." 161 Utah Adv. Rep. at 11. Since the Bunzl Handbook, as well as the Employee Checklist, affirms the at-will policy, the evidence of Bunzl's course of conduct is not relevant.

- C. Even if the Oral Statements and/or Course of Conduct did Create an Implied-in-Fact Agreement, Plaintiff was Aware of Her Deficiencies and Given Abundant Opportunity to Correct Them Prior to Her Termination.

Repeated visits from Bunzl's corporate personnel were sufficient notification to plaintiff that her performance was unsatisfactory, and Bunzl afforded her ample opportunity to correct those deficiencies. The undisputed facts establish that

plaintiff was aware that her tardiness was creating problems for Bunzl's corporate offices. R. 314-315. She admits that she was routinely seeking extensions of the closing deadline by November 1987, and that her reports for January, February, March and April, 1988, were all late. R. 313-314. She also admits she knew this was a major problem and concern for Debra Scott, Bunzl's regional controller. R. 321-324.

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